UNIVERSITY OF WUPPERTAL BERGISCHE UNIVERSITÄT WUPPERTAL

EUROPÄISCHE WIRTSCHAFT UND INTERNATIONALE MAKROÖKONOMIK



Christian Schröder

Dynamics in ICT cooperation networks in selected German ICT clusters

Diskussionsbeitrag 194 Discussion Paper 194

Europäische Wirtschaft und Internationale Wirtschaftsbeziehungen European Economy and International Economic Relations ISSN 1430-5445

Christian Schröder

Dynamics in ICT cooperation networks in selected German ICT clusters

August 2013

Herausgeber/Editor: Prof. Dr. Paul J.J. Welfens, Jean Monnet Chair in European Economic Integration

EUROPÄISCHES INSTITUT FÜR INTERNATIONALE WIRTSCHAFTSBEZIEHUNGEN (EIIW)/ EUROPEAN INSTITUTE FOR INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC RELATIONS Bergische Universität Wuppertal, Campus Freudenberg, Rainer-Gruenter-Straße 21, D-42119 Wuppertal, Germany Tel.: (0)202 – 439 13 71 Fax: (0)202 – 439 13 77 E-mail: welfens@eiiw.uni-wuppertal.de www.eiiw.eu

JEL classification: R10, O18, L63, L86 Keywords: Regional science, Cluster, ICT, Knowledge spillover, Social network analysis, Innovation networks

Summary: High innovation capability is indispensable for generating economic growth in developed economies. Cooperations in the innovation process are entered into by companies for reasons of risk diversification or costs and often considered to be an efficient strategy to increase a company's knowledge basis. Regional economic literature very often believes that regional agglomeration of companies, i.e. cluster formation, will also lead to increased local networking, i.e. also to cooperations between companies or between company and research institutes in the innovation process. A social network analysis of the two German ICT regions performed with patent data was able to show that cluster formation coincides with a dynamic increase of cooperations measured by joint patent applications. However, the cooperations are characterized by integration of extra-regional companies and research institutes rather than being intraregional.

Zusammenfassung: Eine hohe Innovationsfähigkeit ist eine unabdingbare Voraussetzung für die Förderung des Wirtschaftswachstums in entwickelten Ländern. Kooperationen im Rahmen des Innovationsprozesses werden von den Unternehmen aufgrund der Risikound Kostendiversifikation eingegangen und oft als eine effiziente Strategie zur Erhöhung der Wissensbasis eines Unternehmens betrachtet. Regionalökonomische Literatur nimmt sehr häufig an, dass eine regionale Firmenagglomeration, d.h. Clusterbildung, zu einer erhöhten lokalen Vernetzung führen wird, d.h. auch zu Kooperationen zwischen den Unternehmen oder zwischen den Unternehmen und Forschungseinrichtungen im Innovationsprozess. Eine soziale Netzwerkanalyse der zwei deutschen IKT - Regionen, durchgeführt mit Patentdaten, konnte zeigen, dass eine Clusterbildung mit einer dynamischen Erhöhung der Kooperation, gemessen an der Anzahl der Patentanmeldungen, übereinstimmt. Allerdings sind die Kooperationen durch eine Integration der eher extraregionalen intraregionalen Unternehmen und Forschungseinrichtungen als charakterisiert.

Christian Schröder, Institut für Mittelstandsforschung Bonn, Maximilianstraße 20, 53111 Bonn

schroeder@ifm-bonn.org

Dynamics in ICT cooperation networks in selected German ICT clusters

Discussion Paper 194

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	I
List of Tables	II
List of Figures	II
1. Introduction	1
2. Cluster, knowledge spillover and cooperation	3
2.1 The role of clusters and (local) knowledge spillovers for regional growth	3
2.2 Knowledge spillover induced by cooperation	5
2.3 Role of cluster management to stimulate knowledge spillovers	6
3. Network analysis – cooperation network of patent applicants in selected Gern	nan
ICT cluster regions	7
3.1 Method procedure	7
3.2 Network measures	9
3.3 Descriptive statistics	10
3.4 Results	10
3.4.1 Results for the NUTS-2 region cologne	10
3.4.2 Results for the NUTS-2 region Karlsruhe	13
4. Summary of results and conclusions	15
Apprendix	19

List of Tables

Table 1: Cooperation network measures of NUTS-2 region Karlsruhe	17
Table 2: Classification of (OECD) ICT sector	19
Table 3: Cooperation networks with at least one cooperation partner (Applicant) headquartered outside of the region under consideration	19
Table 4: Cooperation networks with at least one cooperation partner (Applicant) headquartered outside of the region under consideration	21
Table 5: Cooperation networks in which all cooperation partners (Applicants) are headquartered outside of the region under consideration	24
Table 6: Cooperation networks in which all cooperation partners (Applicants) are headquartered outside of the region under consideration	26
Table 6 (continued)	27
Table 7: Cooperation networks in which all cooperation partners (Applicants) are headquartered inside the region under consideration	29
Table 8: Cooperation networks in which all cooperation partners (applicants) are headquartered inside the region under consideration	31

List of Figures

Fig. 1: Number of weighted iCT patent applications (for the period 1984-2006) 11
Fig. 2: R&D expenditures in % of (Regional) GDP (No data available for the time before 1995 concerning the NUTS-2 regions) (for the period 1995-2007) 12
Fig. 3: Cooperation network for the NUTS-2 Region of cologne for the period of 1984-1993 (t_0)
Fig. 4: Cooperation network for the NUTS-region cologne for the period of 1994-2003 (t ₁)
Fig. 5: Cooperation network for the NUTS-2 region of Karlsruhe for the period of 1988-1997 (t_0)
Fig. 6: Cooperation network for the NUTS-2 Region of Karlsruhe for the period of 1998-2007 (t_1)
Fig. 7: Cologne (NUTS-2) with at least one cooperation partner (Applicant) headquartered outside of the region for the period of 1984-1993 (t ₀) 20
Fig. 8: Cologne (NUTS-2) with at least one cooperation partner (Applicant) headquartered outside of the region for the period of 1994-2003 (t ₁)
Fig. 9: Karlsruhe (NUTS-2) with at least one cooperation partner (Applicant) headquartered outside of the region for the period of 1988-1997 (t ₀) 23

Fig. 10: Karlsruhe (NUTS-2) with at least one cooperation partner (Applicant) headquartered outside of the region for the period of 1998-2007 (t ₁)
Fig. 11: All applicants outside of cologne (NUTS-2) for the period of 1984-1993 (t_0) 25
Fig. 12: All applicants outside of cologne (NUTS-2) for the period 1994-2003 (t_1) 25
Fig. 13: All applicants outside of Karlsruhe (NUTS-2) for the period of 1988-1997 $\left(t_0\right)$ 27
Fig. 14: All applicants outside of Karlsruhe (NUTS-2) for the period of 1998-2007 $\left(t_{1}\right)$ 28
Fig. 15: All applicants within cologne (NUTS-2) for the period of 1984-1993 (t_0)
Fig. 16: All applicants within cologne (NUTS-2) for the period of 1994-2003 (t_1)
Fig. 17: All applicants within Karlsruhe (NUTS-2) for the period of 1988-1997 $\left(t_{0}\right)32$
Fig. 18: All applicants within Karlsruhe (NUTS-2) for the period of 1998-2007 (t_1) 32

1. Introduction

Cluster promotion has been a frequently used business-politics instrument for promotion of regional economy. The term of "cluster" is used as meaning a spatial agglomeration of companies from the same economic sector along the value-added chain in this analysis. They are supplemented by the corresponding complementary companies or facilities, such as specialist suppliers and research facilities. The members are connected via supply or competitor relationships or joint interests. This analysis has a close look at the two clusters of information and communications technology (ICT) in the NUTS-2 regions of Cologne and Karlsruhe in Germany. Both regions are strong in ICT.

The idea is that spatial agglomeration permits generation of competitive advantages. These competitive advantages are created by increased competition, improved access to resources for the companies – in addition to natural resources, e.g. via a pool of specialized human capital and specialized suppliers. Additionally, synergies may result from joint use of infrastructure. A higher number of spin-offs from present companies are expected. The geographic proximity of many companies form the same economic sector leads to voluntary and involuntary, formal and informal channels that stimulate knowledge transfer in particular between companies in the cluster region – as large parts of the corresponding literature claim. In developed economies or high-tech sectors, this so-called knowledge spillover is supposed to play an important role in regional and general economic growth.¹ According to that the idea of knowledge spillovers is the basic concept of the endogenous growth theory and plays a key role in explaining economic growth (see e.g., Romer 1986; Aghion and Howitt 1992, 1997; Howitt and Aghion 1998; Peretto 1998, 1999a,b; Schmitz 1989). The endogenous growth theory highlights unintended knowledge spillovers, which means that business, in spite of patent protection, cannot fully contain the newly acquired knowledge. Since new knowledge cannot be protected comprehensively, other companies that do not conduct R&D will also benefit. These spillovers in addition to public knowledge created by universities and public research institutes, generate constant marginal yields on the macroeconomic level are generated. Lucas (1988) advances similar arguments, but emphasizes investments into human capital. The latter increase productivity by gaining new knowledge, which is then transferred involuntarily to other economic agents, who are also able to workmore productively. Along this view knowledge is a public good as it is created by one or more individuals and can be exploited by another without compensation. Nelson (1990) weakens this viewand creates the term latent public good. The transfer of knowledge from an inventor to an imitator needs the capacity to absorb this knowledge. The imitator has also to invest in resources to apply the new knowledge (Cohen and Levinthal 1990). Therefore the incentive to invest in R&D may remain unaffected or is only less disturbed (Cantner et al. 2009).

Knowledge is a wholly private good if it is incorporated in a person and associated with his talents. This kind of knowledge or a combination of specific resources which is not replicable is called tacit knowledge. Hence one can argue that knowledge as a good is in

¹ Along with Döring and Schellenbach (2006) this paper understands knowledge as comprising all cognitions and abilities that individuals use to solve problems, make decisions and understand incoming information.

terms of exclusivity and rivalry neither a typically private nor public good and should be considered differentiatedly in this regard.

Undesired knowledge outflow is countered by intended or desired knowledge spillovers between different companies, as well as between companies and research facilities. Cooperations permit exchange or joint development, in particular of complementary knowledge to achieve a more valuable and higher innovation output. Politics try to stimulate this networking as an important way of cluster promotion. Simply said, the idea is that high company density also offers a good situation for cooperations. To put this idea into practice and to network companies among each other, cluster managements have been installed and promoted in the corresponding regions. The objective is increasing local knowledge spillover and therefore also regional innovation power.

The following analysis forms the actual cooperation conduct – intended exchange of knowledge - in research and development activities in the timeline of successful ICT clusters. Is there any cooperative behavior and do dynamics actually change? Who are the important players in cooperation networks? Furthermore, in addition to intra-regional cooperation relationships, cooperation networks are also developed between companies from the cluster region and at least one company outside of the region. In how far are there also cooperations between companies that use knowledge generated in the cluster region but are headquartered outside of the region under consideration? These companies "tap" the knowledge in the cluster region. The analysis is to show whether there is actually a large number of local cooperations or whether actors outside of the region are at least as important as innovation partners. Are there any parallels between the successful regions or do cooperation relationships develop very differently?

To add a new component to empiric literature and to gain new insights on the cooperation behavior in the innovation process in clusters, the cooperation conduct of patent applicants in the ICT sector in two German regions, the NUTS-2 region of Cologne and the NUTS-2 region of Karlsruhe. The ICT sector was chosen because it is one of the most important business sectors in Germany. On the one hand, the ICT sector has a high growth and innovation dynamic. On the other hand, it is considered an important cross-section technology. This means that ICT increases production efficiency in nearly all other business sectors. The selected regions show above average ICT knowledge, i.e. a high number of ICT patent applications.

The analysis instrument used is the method of network analysis, as already mentioned. This way, changes in the number of joint patent applications and networking patterns between the cooperating cluster participants can be illustrated and observed in more detail by networking analysis measures. Network analysis is an instrument that is not very common yet in business sciences but used increasingly often for analysis of innovation systems or cluster analyses (see, e.g., the studies by Welfens 2011; Emons 2011; He and Fallah 2009; Graf and Henning 2009; Cantner et al. 2009; Giuliani 2005), because it is very well suitable for visualization of knowledge channels and has some benefits over the previous analysis methods, such as the often-applied concept of the knowledge production function. Two observation periods each are chosen – 10 years before founding of a cluster management in the region and 10 years after.

The following is a brief but also critical treatment of the economic effect of knowledge flows in clusters, i.e. local knowledge spillovers. Existing theoretic and empiric literature on this subject is used as a basis for discussion of how external knowledge influx into the cluster region may play a role, and under what prerequisites companies cooperate in research and development. The third section is targeted at performance of a network analysis of cooperating companies. Business politics implications and further research demand, as well as limitations of this study are phrased in section four of this chapter.

The results show that a successful cluster region shows dynamic development of cooperations. The cooperation networks expand. However, each of the two regions also has some specific features in cooperation conduct. While cooperations with external companies, e.g. at least one registering party on the patent being headquartered outside of the region under consideration, seems important for Cologne, research institutions play a very important role as knowledge intermediaries in Karlsruhe.

In both regions it can be noted that intraregional cooperations between companies have hardly increased and that stronger networking over time is not evident.

2. Cluster, knowledge spillover and cooperation

2.1 The role of clusters and (local) knowledge spillovers for regional growth

Marshall (1920) was probably the first person to emphasize the phenomenon of cluster formation and the concurrent agglomeration benefits. In particular Porter (1990) revitalized the concept in a globalizing economy by further aspects or increased consciousness for so-called knowledge spillovers created by increased spatial collection of business subjects, deriving competitive advantages for these regions. Exogenic knowledge is highly important for the internal innovation process. Innovation is based on the combination or recombination of former knowledge (Schumpeter 1911; Cantner et al. 2009). The creation of new technological knowledge means a cumulative learning process which underlies mainly two components. By the idiosyncratic component the innovator learns through his own experience and knowledge accumulation up to now. The second component means the influence through external factors as the experience and know-how of other innovators (Cantner et al. 2009, p.202).

A high company density therefore should also coincide with high know-how spillover effects (Griliches 1992; Jaffe et al. 1993), and generate so-called Marshall-Arrow-Romer knowledge externalities that increase the companies' abilities to develop innovations. This is supposed to additionally stimulate productiveness and growth of the companies or the region. Empiric cluster research has since tried to document the positive effects regarding innovation output and/or innovation inputs (e.g. Baptista and Swann 1998; Beaudry and Breschi 2003; Falck et al. 2010), productiveness (e.g. Engelsoft et al. 2006; Fontagné et al. 2010), newly founded companies (e.g. McDonald et al. 2006; Delgado et al. 2010) and growth of companies and employment (e.g. Tomokazu et al. 2006; Feser et al. 2008;

Hafner 2008; Maine et al. 2010). The results of these and other studies mainly show that there actually seem to be positive cluster formation effects. However, the effect is very different at the respective height and depends on the sectors under consideration. The precise mechanism that may lead to the positive cluster formation effects remains unclear. Cooke et al. (2007) use selected ICT cluster regions in the UK to show that companies have a higher innovation power in clusters than their counterparts outside of clusters. However, they also show that companies cooperating outside of clusters are more innovative than cluster members that do not cooperate. Cooperations therefore seem to be a decisive factor for innovation activities. It seems that not only own efforts for research and development (R&D) but also cooperation is an important strategy for innovation output in R&D projects.

Breschi and Lissoni (2001) are critical about the concept of local knowledge spillovers and their contribution to unintended externalities that mainly occur from geographic proximity of companies. Their criticism is targeted at studies showing the positive customer effect using a knowledge production function (Griliches 1979). The knowledge production function is based on the assumption that cluster formation happens more in sectors where tacit knowledge is very important. It is stated that tacit knowledge can only be transferred by direct and repeated contact (Audretsch 1998). The knowledge production function differentiates between regional knowledge input (e.g. R&D expenditures) and extraregional input. Differences in relative knowledge output (e.g. patent applications) are then interpreted as regional knowledge spillover (Breschi and Lissoni 2001). The actual development process of local knowledge spillovers remains a black box in the empiric analyses.

In spite of objections, e.g. by Breschi and Lissoni, the production knowledge function was used for most of the studies named to measure unintended knowledge spillovers. Breschi/Lissoni suspect that the actual effect of local knowledge spillovers is clearly overestimated. The patent trend increases in cluster regions to better protect against knowledge spillover (Kim and Marschke 2005). This is another reason why the patenting method that is also often used in studies is likely to lead to distorted results. Breschi and Lissoni argue that epistemic closeness is more important than physical limits. This means that technical and scientific information that have the character of tacit knowledge become codifyable knowledge, since there is a dedicated language in small groups of scientific and technical researchers that is only understood by them and develops by extended cooperation and joint experience (Lawson and Lorenz 1999). These things can be transmitted across distances without externals being able to understand these messages. Only fruitful cooperation and subsequent research agreements cause the cooperation partners to get closer in a spatial respect. Accordingly, physical proximity follows epistemic proximity rather than vice versa (Breschi and Lissoni 2001, p. 989). Furthermore, they argue that the role of tacit knowledge in general is overestimated, since this knowledge is often only interesting for other companies if the lab or development conditions are identical. This applies for most high-tech sectors at least. This means that procurement of new knowledge is often connected to high investment costs. The risk for the company is high, since it does not know the real value of the new, non-codifyable knowledge for the company. The inventor will not easily surrender his knowledge, since this would mean dispensing with his "special" skill and reducing his "market value".

Additionally, companies are able to create incentives, e.g. by issuing share options or other contractual instruments, to at least reduce an outflow of employees or knowledge.

In addition to the protective mechanism named, there are possible other reasons for increased patent activities in spatial proximity of research centers. Small and medium-sized businesses often do not have their own resources for development work, leading to a strong incentive for cooperation with local research organizations (Rodríguez-Pose and Refolo 2003). This explains the increased patent output in the region but is not due to unintended local knowledge spillovers. Malmberg and Power (2005) note that questioning of decision-makers in companies on the question of where the most important suppliers or customers for the companies are regarding knowledge and innovation showed that spatial proximity has no influence. High distances prevailed over spatial proximity of relationships (Angel and Engstrom 1995; Almeida and Kogut 1999; Waters and Lawton-Smith 2006).

2.2 Knowledge spillover induced by cooperation

Research and development activities can be organized differently by companies. Research and development may take place in the own company by subcontracting or deliveries, or by research cooperations with other companies or research facilities. Often, research and development work are implemented by a combination of these options. Entering into research and development cooperations is likely the most risky method of this, since transfer of specific knowledge to a potential competitor may be consciously risked. Nevertheless, the benefits from the resulting risk diversification in a cooperation may be more important. Risk diversification takes place by the shared development costs and higher chances of success of the innovation project. A cooperation is most likely entered into if the two companies offer complementary knowledge. Complementary knowledge means that combination of the knowledge stock of cooperation partners leads to new or improved knowledge innovation output (Sakakibara 2003). In particular in the ICT area, ICT goods or services are often complementary to a value in another sector. Since ICT is a cross-section technology, it is embedded in nearly every high-tech product. Often it forms a product's "core". Research cooperations between ICT companies and companies requiring ICT as an input component therefore are more logical than in most other sectors. Cooperations mainly take place between companies on different levels of the production chain, and less between companies horizontally connected (Schmitz 1999). Of course, cooperations will also lead to "unintended" knowledge spillover towards third parties. Even though third parties are not directly integrated into the research cooperation, they still profit via the channels already named – even more, since the cooperations tend to cause a stronger increase of the knowledge stock than would be the case without cooperation. Malmberg and Power (2005) provide an interesting summary of empiric literature on creation of knowledge by companies in clusters. It becomes clear that empirical studies clearly indicate that companies in a cluster mainly profit from cooperation with partners outside the region. This means that local knowledge spillover plays a rather subordinated role. Kalasky and MacPherson (2003) show that cooperations of cluster companies with external companies correspond to a high performance of companies. Local connections are

rather characterized by the exchange of sample goods and services than R&D knowledge (Brown 2000). In contrast to what is suggested by the abundant theoretic literature, it seems that there is actually not much empiric evidence that cooperations in research and development within the clusters are more frequent than in regions not characterized by cluster formation (Angel 2002). A manageable number of studies shows that there may be a higher number of company cooperations, but that this will be limited to a small number of highly innovative companies (Lyons 2000) or small and medium-sized companies (Arndt and Sternberg 2000) or local companies (Gertler et al. 2000). Therefore it seems that the willingness to cooperate is influenced by sector and company-specific factors (Malmberg and Power 2005). Hendry et al.'s (2000) study on companies in the optoelectronics industry showed that national and international company relationships were much stronger than local ones. Kearns and Gorg (2002) show for Irish regions that the electronic industry does form clusters. However, the leading companies in the cluster performed their research activities abroad and there were no or only low spillover effects on local companies. The studies by Simmie (2002) looking at innovative companies in South-East England and Mota and de Castro (2004) show that successful companies show a mix of local and extraneous cooperations or connections (Malmberg and Power 2005, p.415). The heterogeneity of the empiric results regarding local knowledge spillover led to the motivation to consider cooperation conduct in the innovation process in more detail in this work.

2.3 Role of cluster management to stimulate knowledge spillovers

The following analysis considers two periods each. The founding year of the cluster initiatives in the selected regions determines t_0 and t_1 . The periods t_0 and t_1 describe the periods 10 years before and 10 after founding of the cluster initiative. Picking a period before and after the founding date seemed sensible for cooperation network analysis because the ICT cluster initiatives consider it one of their most important tasks to link (ICT) companies or (ICT) companies and research facilities among each other. The action range of the respective cluster initiatives is not determined precisely. However, the member lists of the networkers show that their member companies almost all have their headquarters in the respective NUTS-2 regions. The cluster organizations under consideration in the NUTS-2 regions are members of the network initiative Kompetenznetze Deutschland, initiated by the Federal Ministry of Economics and Technology. The initiative covers altogether nine topics, among them information and communications technology. Federal Government currently sponsors 15 networks in the field of information and communication technology. According to the Federal Ministry of Economics and Technology (BMWi 2010a, b, c), these I(C)T networks of competence across Germany aim to increase the interconnectedness between industry and research and to accord greater visibility to the advantages of Germany as an innovation-friendly location. While the initiative Networks of Competence offers specific assistance in cluster management to members, which are accepted according to determined criteria, its primary

aim is to enhance the interconnectedness and external visibility of these networks for potential investors.²

Empirical studies that analyze the performance of cluster managements are still very scarce in the literature which is surprising as the establishing of such teams has become a very popular instrument in economics policy. Therefore, it can hardly be estimated how efficient the work of cluster organizations actually is. Lawton-Smith (2003) shows that cooperation networks between local actors should be an important foundation for cluster formation. In particular for young companies, cluster organizations should serve as contact points for finding suitable cooperation partners; whether cluster management actually successfully acts as intermediary here is hard to measure, since the quantity of success cannot be easily recorded. Often, soft indicators like provision of useful information and creation of formal and informal contacts are the most important part of the daily work of a cluster office. The following analysis also presents how member companies of the cluster organizations have integrated into the network within the period t_1 , even if network analysis based on patents is only able to provide very limited results here, since the analysis method is not perfect. The following analysis focuses on the cooperation behavior of innovators (in ICT cluster regions).

3. Network analysis – cooperation network of patent applicants in selected German ICT cluster regions

3.1 Method procedure

The following network analysis is based on the patent database PATSTAT offered by the European patent office. Since these are merely raw data, they were implemented using a database management system.³ The advantages and disadvantages of patents as innovation indicators are often discussed in literature. A lot of innovations are never patented. A patent application does not always have a relevant market value. Additionally, the patent trend is different from sector to sector, and also depends on country-specific factors. Still, the interconnection between inventions and patents is very high. Patent data deliver detailed and standardized data for all business sectors and across a long period.

 $^{^{2}}$ A minimum size of 10 actors is required and a corporate share of at least 50 %. In addition, the involvement of a research institution must be ensured. Among the parties involved there should also be service providers, in particular financial services providers and basic and further training facilities. The BMWi also requires that the network focuses on a specific field of innovation and that it has specific unique features setting it apart. The organizational degree of the network is also of great significance. Next to "branding," this is the focus of the second pillar of sponsoring. The organization unit of the network or the cluster management will receive specific support, for example, for conducting workshops and industrial fairs. Further assistance is provided by the publication of trend reports, network-specific short studies, online newsletters, joint internet presentations, exchange and development of cooperation projects, internationalisation, i.e. the development of strategies for corresponding activities and the organization of group study visits (BMWi 2010b).

³ For the precise implementation process, see Mahmutovic (2011). Together with Oliver Emons, Zafir Mahmutovic implemented the patent database EIIW-Netpat in the scope of the research project *EU structural change, regional innovation dynamics and cluster formation options in the knowledge societies* for the European Institute for International Economic Relationships (EIIW) at the Bergische University of Wuppertal.

Additionally, this analysis is dedicated to one country and one sector only, so that comparison is sensible at least between the regions under consideration. The analysis also focuses on networking patterns and less on innovation quality. The ICT sector in the NUTS-2 regions of Cologne and Karlsruhe is examined. Both regions have above-average patent applications in this sector as compared to the natural average. The cities of Karlsruhe and Aachen⁴ are considered successful ICT cluster regions. The cooperation network was constructed as follows:

Every patent has the address of the inventor or inventors. Furthermore, the address of the applicants is written on the respective patent. The applicants are involved in the innovation process and are therefore described as innovators. The inventors are natural persons while the applicant is often a company for which the inventor works.

The first criterion is that only ICT patents are considered on which at least one inventor has his permanent place of residence within the region under consideration. It is assumed that this is also the place of knowledge production. The OECD REGPAT database is used for assignment of the addresses of applicant and inventor to the NUTS regions. The second criterion is that at least two applicants are stated on the patent so that a cooperation can be assumed. This means that an inventor from the respective region under consideration worked for innovators A and B, who then registered a patent.

The networks developed are so-called total networks, showing the type of relationship between the actors of a specified examined group of actors to every other actor of this group, or the lack thereof. For personal networks, in contrast, the relationship types between the different actors and a specific examined group of other actors are examined no matter if they are part of the examined group or not. This means that there is no selfcontained group of actors for personal networks, which is, however, the case in the following networks (Emons 2011, p.333). In rare cases, a applicant may occur twice in a network. This is the case if two different addresses are indicated on two different patents. However in the case of a firm as an applicant the address on the patent is usually equal to the address of the firm's headquarter in the country. Generally, cooperation networks are presented with knowledge at least partially generated in the cluster region under consideration. They are differentiated by the applicant's address indicated on the patent. Networks were drawn up in which the applicants are headquartered within the region, as well as networks where at least one applicant is headquartered outside of the region. The third option was construction of networks in which all applicants have their address outside of the NUTS-2 regions under consideration according to the patent letter (see networks in the appendix). Now I want to show how external applicants "tap" the knowledge regions to increase their knowledge basis or how the cooperations develop interregionally over time.

The IPC classes that define the ICT sector are listed in the appendix. It is essentially based on OECD classification for ICT. All isolated applicants were removed from the networks. Differing node sizes (applicants) and connection thicknesses between the notes to display intensity of cooperations was waived for the benefit of a clear structure. This is made clear by the network analysis measures for every network and therefore the respective position of the innovator in the network. The placement of nodes that represent the applicants does

⁴ Aachen is located in the NUTS-2 region of Cologne.

not correspond to any spatial order that represents the geographic position or distance between the companies.

3.2 Network measures

The analysis lists three networking measures (the following explanations are in part based on Emons 2011, p. 337 et seqq.).

The *density* of a network offers information on the ratio of actual relationships as compared to the possible relationships in a network, it is a measure for how closely a group is linked. If g is the number of actors, the number of possible relationships (indegree and outdegree) is:

$$g^*(g-1) \tag{1}$$

However, this does not consider the actual relationships a. The density, i.e. the number of actual relationships in the respective network, results from:

$$a / g^*(g - 1)$$
 (2)

Density is a simple measure and therefore only suitable for comparison between identically sized networks. *Centrality* helps making statements on the inner structure of the network. There is a difference between the *degree centrality* and the so-called *betweenness centrality* (Freeman 1978). Degree centrality makes a statement on the position of a single actor, in this case the innovators, in the network. It is a value describing the number of relationships that every actor in a network has to the other actor and is formally phrased as follows:

$$C_D(i) = d_i / (g - 1)$$
 (3a)

With D(i) being the number of all adjacent items of the applicant i. Therefore, not the overall network properties, but the properties of the individual actors are taken under consideration. This represents the number of the incoming and outgoing relationships of an actor. The centrality degree of the entire network can be calculated as well:

$$C_D = \sum_{i=1}^{g} \left(\max(C_i) - C_i \right) / g - 2$$
(3b)

In contrast to density, degree centrality can be used for differently sized networks. For comparability's sake, we calculate the *average degree centrality*, which provides information on how many relationships every actor maintains on average. Furthermore, the so-called *betweenness centrality* (according to Freeman 1978) is calculated as follows:

$$C_B(i) = \sum_{j \neq i \neq k} \frac{g_{jk}(i)}{g_{jk}}$$
(4a)

 g_{jk} indicates the number of points that connect applicants j and k along the shortest path. g_{jk} (i) designates the number of such paths that also include applicant i. 1 means a star shape, 0 indicates that all actors have the same degree. Betweenness centrality indicates how centrally an actor is located regarding information exchange within a network. A applicant with a high betweenness centrality holds an important role when exchanging information within the network. The network betweenness centrality results from

$$C_{B} = \frac{2\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left[\max(C_{B}(n)) - C_{B}(i) \right]}{(g-1)^{2}(g-2)}$$
(4b)

where max(CB(n)) is the highest value of betweenness centrality of a node and g is the number of nodes in the network (Wasserman and Faust 1994).

3.3 Descriptive statistics

NUTS-2 region Cologne:	NUTS-2-region Karlsruhe:
Seize: 7364.61 Sqkm	Seize: 6919.09 Sqkm
No. of Inhabitants (on average from 1984 to 2007): 4.30 Mio.	No. of Inhabitants (on average from 1984 to 2007): 2.74 Mio.
Name of the Cluster Initiative:	Name of the Cluster:
REGINA e.V. (REGionaler INdustrieclub	Initiative : CyberForum
Informatik Aachen)	
Start of the Initiative: 1993	Start of the Initiative: 1997
Domicile of the cluster office: Aachen	Domicile of the cluster office: Karlsruhe
No. of cluster member in 2011: 110	No. of cluster members in 2011: 930

The following figure shows the patent applications in relation to the number of residents. The NUTS-2 region of Karlsruhe is clearly above the national average in the period under consideration while the region of Cologne only exceeds the national average at the end of the 1990s after being below it previously. The figure 3.2 shows the R&D expenses for the region of Cologne drop over time and adjust to the national average. The region of Karlsruhe is clearly above the German overall average and even manages to clearly increase the distance over time (Figs. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6).

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Results for the NUTS-2 region cologne

The number of cooperations has clearly increased from 643 to 1993 as compared to the previous period, showing very dynamic development. This becomes visually clear in the cooperation network figure. The network measures confirm this first impression. The network degree centrality CD and network betweenness centrality CB increase as

compared to the previous period (t0). The average number of connections between the applicants has also increased from 2,375 to 2,596. The Vaillant Group, in t0 still the most central applicant in the cooperation network, lost its central position. The dominance of Vaillant across several companies in the period t0 is distributed to several companies like Philips, Bosch, NXP, Daimler, Volkswagen and BMW in period t1. Similar results are shown in betweenness centrality. Betweenness centrality values for the most important innovators have clearly increased and the order has changed. Large groups from the automotive sector are important – among them Deutsche Telekom AG and Siemens. The research institutes Forschungszentrum Jülich and Fraunhofer were able to maintain their positions as knowledge intermediaries (in the sense of betweenness centrality) as compared to period t0. To achieve this, they clearly increased their centrality values from 0.112 and 0.067 respectively to 0.677 and 0.516 respectively.





- Number of weighted ICT patent applications (per million inhabitants) at the EPO for the NUTS-2 Region Cologne
- Number of weighted ICT patent applications (per million inhabitants) at the EPO for the NUTS-2 Region Karlsruhe
- --- Number of weighted ICT patent applications (per million inhabitants) at the EPO for Germany

Source: PATSTAT (Own calculations and illustration) (Definition for ICT patents see appendix)

Fig. 2: R&D expenditures in % of (Regional) GDP (No data available for the time before 1995 concerning the NUTS-2 regions) (for the period 1995-2007)



Source: Eurostat/Own Illustration

Fig. 3: Cooperation network for the NUTS-2 Region of cologne for the period of 1984-1993 (t₀)



Source: Own Illustration

It is noticeable that research holds an important position in ICT research cooperations nearly at all times and in every network. Looking at the partial networks for Cologne in a more differentiated analysis (see networks in the appendix), i.e. by the address where the applicants are headquartered, shows that in particular companies headquartered outside of Cologne act as intermediaries of cooperations or knowledge. Betweenness centrality of the entire network and individual leading innovators increases most clearly here. The betweenness centrality of the network for applicants headquartered in Cologne increased from 0 % to 0.17 %, staying low. It is clear that almost all applicants in this network are private persons, for both periods t_0 and t_1 .⁵ (Tables 1 and 2)

In general, it can be said that the importance, i.e. centrality, has moved towards large companies and research facilities headquartered outside of the NUTS-2 region of Cologne over time. The number of companies from outside the region nearly tripled. This also applies for cooperations where at least one cooperation partner comes from the region, while cooperating innovators completely outside of the NUTS-2 region of Cologne only increased from 24 to 36 in absolute figures. This is also represented in the example of the Forschungszentrum Jülich, which is headquartered in the region of Cologne and is often represented as an important player in the different networks. Only in the network that considers only companies headquartered in Cologne it is merely subordinated in importance in t_1 . Three companies that are members of the Clusterinitiative REGINA e.V. are part of the overall network in t_0 .

Fig. 4: Cooperation network for the NUTS-region cologne for the period of 1994-2003 (t₁)



Source: Own Illustration

3.4.2 Results for the NUTS-2 region Karlsruhe

Similar as in the region of Cologne, the number of ICT research cooperations clearly increased from 1273 to 2103. Even if the relative increase is lower, observe that the initial level is much higher in the region of Karlsruhe. Development is in parallel to the region of Cologne. Again, the centrality measures for the cooperation network have increased over time. While network degree centrality increases slightly, the value for betweenness centrality clearly increased from 0.82 % to 1.81 %. The importance of knowledge intermediaries in the scope of research cooperations has therefore clearly increased. With a

⁵ It must be noted that natural persons with a professor's title very often can be assigned to research institutions. Until 2002, German patent law permitted university professors to register a patent in their name rather than the university's name.

view to the overall network, but also the differentiated networks (see appendix) for the region of Karlsruhe it becomes clear that the research institutions always hold a central position. Many research institutes like Fraunhofer, Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe, Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum, Kernforschungszentrum Karlsruhe, Max-Planck-Gesellschaft, etc. are involved in periods t_0 and t_1 . A high ratio of research institutes comes from the region or has at least an important site there. Expansion of the cooperations is obviously due to the many cooperations of research companies. They seem to cooperate less with each other, as is shown by the innovator network only headquartered in Karlsruhe, but rather with companies from the outside. Research institutions are important in the Cologne network, and extraordinarily so in their function as knowledge intermediaries or innovators here.

The knowledge region of Karlsruhe is not tapped by cooperating companies, headquartered only outside of it as in the case of the region of Cologne. The number of cooperations in which all cooperation partners are headquartered outside of Karlsruhe increased only from 69 to 91 joint patent applications. It is notable that the most important companies from the outside include Bosch Volkswagen, Daimler, BMW and Philips, the same ones as in the region of Cologne. Five companies are members of the regional cluster initiative CyberForum.

Fig. 5: Cooperation network for the NUTS-2 region of Karlsruhe for the period of 1988-1997 (t₀)



Source: Own Illustration

Fig. 6: Cooperation network for the NUTS-2 Region of Karlsruhe for the period of 1998-2007 (t_1)



Source: Own Illustration

4. Summary of results and conclusions

A network analysis was performed in the German ICT cluster regions of Cologne and Karlsruhe, on the NUTS-2 level. It was targeted at examining the cooperation conduct of innovators. The data basis was the patent database PATSTAT. The raw data provided was prepared so that all ICT patents with at least one inventor resident in one of the regions were filtered out. In a second step, the patents from this data volume with more than one innovator (applicant) were analyzed. It may be assumed that the patent applicants know each other and that they cooperate within a joint research project. Cooperation networks were generated for networks or network measures and their development was illustrated and analyzed for two periods of 10 years each for either region. The objective was showing how cooperation behavior dynamics develop in an economic sector in which successful cluster formation has taken place at the same time. Who were the important actors in this process, and what was the role of inter-regional cooperations? How are external innovators integrated into the network? Did the regions go through parallel development? The results show that the cooperation behavior in the cluster process also developed dynamically. In both regions, the network expanded and continued to diversify, while also enhancing its structures. This becomes clear by the analytic measures, as well as the graphic network mappings. The overall networks in the two regions show that cooperation intensity has continued to increase, at concurrent increase of the number of cooperating innovators. Only Karlsruhe showed some small relative reduction of the average number of cooperation relationships. In both regions there are several important innovator cooperations regarding number and intensity. There is no danger of cooperation networks breaking apart due to loss of one innovator. The clear increase of betweenness centrality in

both networks is notable. Knowledge intermediation has clearly increased. Knowledge transfer between innovators with a third party integrated has clearly increased. It is not surprising that the most important innovators are large companies. In particular multinational ICT companies and automotive groups are central actors in the cooperation networks. The differences between the regions become clear here as well. While the overall networks develop dynamically in parallel over time, drivers for cooperation conduct in the region of Cologne are cooperations with external companies. They often tap the knowledge region. This means that they cooperate with inventors from the region while being headquartered outside of it. Additionally, there is a strong increase of cooperations between regional companies and external companies in Cologne. The interregional cooperations developed much less dynamically in both regions. In the region of Karlsruhe, many research institutions are involved in cooperations or serving as knowledge intermediaries, in addition to large multi-national groups that are, interestingly, often the same ones as in the region of Cologne . This is the case of the region of Cologne as well, but Karlsruhe often has more than five different research institutions as most important players in the network and therefore is extraordinarily strongly placed here. On the other hand, cooperating external companies do not play the important role for network expansion that they do in the NUTS-region of Cologne. Network expansion in the region of Cologne therefore was driven more strongly by companies from the outside, and in the region of Karlsruhe by research cooperations with at least one research institute from the region as innovator. Three and five companies respectively among the cooperating investors in

Table 1: Cooperation network measures of NUTS-2 region Karlsruhe

NUTS-2 region cologne for the period of	1984–1993	1994– 2003
Number of all weighted ICT patent applications:	643	1993
Number of applicants >1 per patent (Nodes)	96	225
Ratio of applicants >1 per patent (cooperations)	14.93 %	11.28%
Number of applicants that are also members of the cluster initiative		3
Network Density	0.025	0.0116
Network Degree centrality $\mathrm{C}_{\mathbf{D}}$	7.04 %	10.09%
Network Betweenness Centrality C_{B}	0.42 %	1.47 %
Average Ties per Actor	2.375	2.596
Inclusion of Research Institutes	Yes	Yes
	Most Central Applicants/C _D (i) in % (Degree-Centrality)	
1984–1993	1994-2003	
n.v. Vaillant s.a./9.474	Philips Intellectual Property & Standards GmbH/ 11.161	
VAILLANT p.A.R.L/9.474	Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V./10.7	4
Vaillant GmbH/9.474	ROBERT BOSCH GMBH/6.696	
Joh. Vaillant GmbH u. Co./9.474	NXP B.V./6.250	
VAILLANT Ges.m.b.H/9. 474	Daimler AG/6.250	
Vaillant Ltd./9.474	Volkswagen AG/5.804	
SCHONEWELLE B.V./8.421	BMW AG/5.357	
COFRABEL N.V./8.421	Decomsys - Dependable Computer System ware and	ns, Hard
Vaillant-Schonewelle B.V./8.421	Software Entwicklung GmbH/5.357	
Vaillant B.V./6.316	GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION/5.357	
FORD-WERKE AKTIENGESELL-	Freescale Semiconductor, Inc./5.357	
SCHAFT/5.263	Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft/ 5.357	
Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V./5.263	MOTOROLA, INC./5.357	
SIEMENS AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT/4.211	Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH/4.018	
Philips Corporate Intellectual Prop. GmbH/4.211	Bayer MaterialScience AG/3.125	
	Most Central Applicants/C _B (i) in % (Betweenness-Centrality)	
1984–1993	1994-2003	
FORD-WERKE AKTIENGESELL-	Deutsche Telekom AG/1.413	
SCHAFT/0.426 Daimler AG/1.497	Philips Intellectual Property & Standards 1.217	GmbH/
SIEMENS AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT/0.403	Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V./1.04	l
Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V./0.112	Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH/0.677	
Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH/0.112	Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft zur Förderung/der angewandten Forschung e.V./0.516	r
	T-Mobile Germany GmbH/0.348	

Table 1 (continued)

Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum/0.240	Volkswagen AG/0.581
ROBERT BOSCH GMBH/0.124	Daimler AG/0.437
Alcatel SEL Aktiengesellschaft/0.124	Max-Planck-Gesellschaft zur Förderung der Wissenschaften e.V./0.430
MICROPARTS GESELLSCHAFT FÜR	
MIKROSTRUKTURTECHNIK mbH/0.033	Roche Diagniostics GMBH/0.319
Roche Diagnostics GmbH/0.017	Lucent Technologies Inc./0.173
	Boehringer Ingelheim International GmbH/0.173

Own calculations

networks are members of the cluster initiative. To assess the role of cluster organizations, supplementary quality analysis is indispensable. Measuring the networking success in the innovation process by patent analysis without any further information on the members only would be insufficient and would not meet the requirements of evaluation of cluster organization activities. However, supplementary qualitative analysis would be highly interesting to look more closely at the cluster initiative's role. This analysis indicates that individual cluster promotion is required and that a strategy customized for the region in question should be pursued. While the region of Cologne has developed from a belowaverage to an above-average ICT knowledge region at least regarding ICT patent applications by, e.g., increased cooperation between regional companies and external companies, integration of the research institutes as knowledge intermediaries or cooperation partners in R&D was likely a decisive factor for further development of Karlsruhe as an ICT site. In any case, cooperations and successful cluster formation seem to coincide. Networking appears to be relevant. If these networking activities are promoted by third parties (e.g. a cluster organization), external companies should in any case be considered as potentially matching partners in the innovation process for regional companies.

Of course, this thesis is a rather descriptive analysis that provides an additional component for the German ICT sector created by network analysis, an analysis instrument not very widely used in business sciences yet, in the light of the many cluster analyses today. In addition to the disadvantages of patent analysis already named, this method cannot easily empirically analyze causative interrelations. Additionally, there are the usual limitations resulting from the administrative and therefore artificial thresholds, such as the NUTS-2 level for a cluster analysis. However, it appears obvious that successful regional ICT cluster formation by cooperations with external companies and integration of research institutions are important factors for success. It remains unclear, in how far local knowledge spillovers in the form of cooperations play a role and whether other factors like lower transaction costs or a specialized local labor market would offer better explanations for a spatial agglomeration of companies from the same sector. Interregional cooperations develop much less dynamically in both regions, in any case.

Apprendix

Table 2: Classification of (OECD) ICT sector

IPC 4 classes

'B07C','B41J','B41K','G01B','G01C','G01D','G01F','G01G','G01H','G01J','G01K','G01L','G01M','G01N', 'G01P','G01R','G01S','G01V','G01W','G02F','G03G','G05B','G05F','G08C','G08G','G09B','G09C','G09G',' G10L','G11B','G11C','H01L','H01P','H01Q','H03B','H03C','H03D','H03F','H03G','H03H','H03J','H03K', 'H03L','H03M','H04B','H04H','H04J','H04K','H04L','H04M','H04N','H04Q','H04R','H04S','H1S5','H1'

IPC 8 classes

'G02B 6','H01B 11','H01J 11','H01J 13','H01J 15','H01J 17','H01J 19','H01J 21','H01J 23','H01J 25','H01J 27','H01J 29','H01J 31','H01J 33','H01J 40','H01J 41','H01J 43','H01J 45','H01S 3/025','H01S 3/043','H01S 3/063','H01S 3/067','H01S 3/085','H01S 3/0933','H01S 3/0941','H01S 3/103','H01S 3/133','H01S 3/ 18','H01S 3/19','H01S 3/25'

Large IPC4 classes

'G06/G07

Table 3: Cooperation networks with at least one cooperation partner (Applicant) headquartered outside of the region under consideration

NUTS-2 region of Cologne for the period of	1984-1993	1994-2003
Number of all weighted ICT patent applications	643	1993
Number of applicants with at least one cooperation partner (applicant) headquartered outside of the region under consideration >1 per patent (modes)	56	136
Ratio of applicants >1 per patent (cooperations)	8.71 %	6.82 %
Network Density	0.0416	0.0150
Network Degree-centrality CD	6.88 %	5.95 %
Network Betweenness Centrality CB	0.73 %	0.96 %
Average Ties per Actor	2.286	2.029
Inclusion of Research Institutes	Yes	Yes
	Most Central Applicants/C _D (i) in % (Degree-Centrality)%	
1984–1993	1994-2003	
Vaillant Ltd./10.909	ROBERT BOSCH GMBH/7.407	
VAILLANT Ges.m.b.H/10.909	Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V./6.667	
Vaillant s.a./10.909	Daimler AG/6.667	
Joh. Vaillant GmbH u. Co./10.909	Philips Intellectual Property & Standards GmbH/5.926	
VAILLANT p.A.R.L/10.909.	Decomsys - Dependable Computer Systems,	
Vaillant GmbH/10.909	Hardware and Software Entwicklung GmbH/5.185	
SCHONEWELLE B.V./10.909	Bayerische Motorenwerke AG/5.185	
FORD-WERKE AKTIENGESELL-	Freescale Semiconductor, Inc./5.185	
SCHAFT/9.091	GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION/3.704	
Seidenberg, Jürgen, Dr./5.455	Bayer MaterialScience AG/3.704	
Blazek, Vladimir, DrIng./5.455	Deutsche Telekom AG/3.704	

Table 3 (continued)

1984-1993

SCHAFT/0.741

Ford Motor Company Limited/5.455 FORD MOTOR COMPANY/5.455 Philips Corporate Intellectual Property GmbH/5.455 Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH/5.455 FORD FRANCE p.A./5.455

FORD-WERKE AKTIENGESELL-

SIEMENS AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT/0.337

Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH/0.202

Saint-Gobain Vitrage/0.067

Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH/3.704 Sony Corporation/2.963

Most Central Applicants/CB(i) in % (Betweenness-Centrality) 1994-2003 ROBERT BOSCH GMBH/0.984 Daimler AG/0.829 Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH/0.586 Deutsche Telekom AG/0.586 Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V./0.287 Bayer MaterialScience AG/0.133 Philips Intellectual Property & Standards GmbH/0.094 Bayer Aktiengesellschaft/0.066 Sony Corporation/0.066 Agfa NDT GmbH/0.022 T-Mobile Germany GmbH/0.011 SAINT-GOBAIN GLASS FRANCE/0.011 KRAUTKRÄMER GmbH & Co./0.011

Source: Own calculations

Fig. 7: Cologne (NUTS-2) with at least one cooperation partner (Applicant) headquartered outside of the region for the period of 1984-1993 (t₀)



Fig. 8: Cologne (NUTS-2) with at least one cooperation partner (Applicant) headquartered outside of the region for the period of 1994-2003 (t_1)



Source: Own illustration

Table 4: Cooperation networks with at least one cooperation partner (Applicant) headquartered outside of the region under consideration

NUTS-2 region of Karlsruhe for the period of	1988–1997	1998-2007
Number of all weighted ICT patent applications:	1273	2103
Number of applicants with at least one cooperation partner (applicant) headquartered outside of the region under consideration	69	104
Ratio of applicants >1 per patent (cooperations)	5.42 %	4.95 %
Network Density	0.0367	0.0207
Network Degree-centrality CD	6.73 %	5.75 %
Network Betweenness Centrality CB	0.78 %	2.65 %
Average Ties per Actor	2.493	2.135
Inclusion of Research Institutes	Yes	Yes
	Most Central Applicants/C _D (i) in % (Degree-Centrality)%	
1988–1997	1998-2007	
Seeger, Stefan, Dr./10.294	Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft zur Förderun der angewandten Forschung e.V./7.	ng 767
Seidel, Claus/10.294		
Köllner, Malte/10.294	Roche Diagniostics GMBH/7.767	

Table 4 (continued)

DREXHAGE, Karl-Heinz, Prof. Dr./10.294 Sauer, Markus/10.294 Schulz, Andreas/10.294

Wolfrum, Jürgen, Prof. Dr./10.294 Han, Kyung-Tae/10.294 KERNFORSCHUNGSZENTRUM KARLSRUHE GMBH/7.353 Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe GmbH7.353 Leroy, Marie-Hélène/5.882 Abbas, Kamel/5.882 Zerari, Amyn/5.882 Abbas, Said/5.882 Dubois, Clément/5.882

1988–1997 Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe GmbH/0.790 KERNFORSCHUNGSZENTRUM KARLSRUHE GMBH/0.790 Roche Diagnostics GmbH/0.132 Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum/ 0.044 BASF AG/7.796 Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe GmbH/6.796

Europäisches Laboratorium für Molekularbiologie/5.825 Max-Planck-Gesellschaft zur Förderung der Wissenschaften e.V./4.854 Bruyns, Eddy/4.854 Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum/4.854 Schraven, Burkhart/4.854

Marie-Cardine, Anne/4.854 Kirchgessner, Henning/4.854 Meuer, Stefan/4.854 Essenpreis, Matthias/3.883 Boecker, Dirk/3.883 Nickell, Stephan/3.883 F. Hoffmann - La Roche AG/3.883 Most Central Applicants/C_B(i) in % (Betweenness-Centrality) 1998–2007 BASF AG/2.722

Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum/2.322 Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe GmbH/1.980 Max-Planck-Gesellschaft zur Förderung der Wissenschaften e.V./1.371

Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft zur Förderung der angewandten Forschung e.V./0.733 Roche Diagniostics GMBH/0.457 Europäisches Laboratorium für Molekularbiologie/0.209 SAP AG/0.209

F. Hoffmann - La Roche AG/0.105 Wolfrum, Jürgen, Prof. Dr./0.038 Fig. 9: Karlsruhe (NUTS-2) with at least one cooperation partner (Applicant) headquartered outside of the region for the period of 1988-1997 (t₀)



Fig. 10: Karlsruhe (NUTS-2) with at least one cooperation partner (Applicant) headquartered outside of the region for the period of 1998-2007 (t₁)



Source: Own illustration

Table 5: Cooperation networks in which all cooperation partners (Applicants) are headquartered outside of the region under consideration

NUTS-2 region of Cologne for the period of	1984–1993	1994-2003
Number of all weighted ICT patent applications:	643	1993
Number of applicants in which all cooperation partners (applicants) are headquartered outside of the region under consideration	26	75
Ratio of applicants >1 per patent (cooperations)	4.04 %	3.76 %
Network Density	0.1569	0.0418
Network Degree-centrality CD	21.12 %	20.42 %
Network Betweenness Centrality CB	0.28 %	2.94 %
Average Ties per Actor	3.923	3.093
Inclusion of Research Institutes	Yes	Yes
	Most Central Applicants/C _D (i) in % (Degree-Centrality)%	
1984–1993	1994-2003	
Joh. Vaillant GmbH u. Co./36.000	Philips Intellectual Property & Standards O	GmbH/24.324
VAILLANT Ges.m.b.H/36.000	Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V./22.97	3
Vaillant GmbH/36.000	Volkswagen AG/14.865	
Vaillant Ltd./36.000	MOTOROLA, INC./13.514	
n.v. Vaillant s.a./36.000	Daimler AG/13.514	
VAILLANT p.A.R.L/36.000	NXP B.V./13.514	
COFRABEL N.V./32.000	ROBERT BOSCH GMBH/13.514	
SCHONEWELLE B.V./32.000	Freescale Semiconductor, Inc./13.514	
Vaillant-Schonewelle B. V./32.000	Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft/13.514	
Vaillant B.V./24.000	GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION/1	3.514
Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V./8.000	BMW AG/13.514	
SIEMENS AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT/8.000	Vaillant GmbH/6.757	
	Vaillant B.V./6.757	
	Vaillant A/S/6.757	
	Vaillant Ltd./6.757	
	VAILLANT p.A.R.L/6.757	
	Vaillant N.V./6.757	
	Most Central Applicants/CB(i) in % (Betw	eenness-Centrality)
1984–1993	1994-2003	
SIEMENS AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT/0.333	Philips Intellectual Property & Standards O	GmbH/2.999
Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V./0.333	Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V./2.258	
Joh. Vaillant GmbH u. Co./0.167	Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft zur Förderung der Forschung e.V./1.444	angewandten
Vaillant Ltd./0.167		
VAILLANT Ges.m.b.H/0.167	Volkswagen AG/0.740	
VAILLANT p.A.R.L/0.167	Sony Germany GmbH/0.074	
Vaillant GmbH/0.167	AUDI AG/0.037	
n.v. Vaillant s.a./0.167	CENTRE NATIONAL DE LA RECHERC SCIENTIFIQUE (CNRS)/0.037 Messer Gr GmbH/0.037	CHE Youp
Source: Own calculation		



Fig. 11: All applicants outside of cologne (NUTS-2) for the period of 1984-1993 (t₀)





Source: Own illustration

Table 6: Cooperation networks in which all cooperation partners (Applicants) are headquartered outside of the region under consideration

NUTS-2 region of Karlsruhe for the period of	1988–1997	1998-2007
Number of all weighted ICT patent applications:	1273	2103
Number of applicants in which all cooperation partners (applicants) are headquartered outside of the region under consideration	69	91
Ratio of applicants >1 per patent (cooperations)	5.42 %	4.33 %
Network Density	0.0332	0.0252
Network Degree-centrality CD	11.55 %	10.94 %
Network Betweenness Centrality CB	4.34 %	1.62 %
Average Ties per Actor	2.261	2.264
Inclusion of Research Institutes	Yes	Yes
	Most Central Applicants/C _D (i) in % (Degree-Centrality)%	
1988–1997	1998-2007	
Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft zur Förderung der	ROBERT BOSCH GMBH/13.333	
angewandten Forschung e.V./14.706	Volkswagen AG/12.222	
Alcatel SEL Aktiengesellschaft/13.235	Daimler AG/10.000	
SIEMENS AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT/10.294	BMW AG/10.000	
ANT Nachrichtentechnik GmbH/10.294	Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V./10.000	
KRONE Aktiengesellschaft/10.294	Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft/10.000	
Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V./10.294	MOTOROLA, INC./10.000	
Quante Aktiengesellschaft/10.294	GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION 10.000	4/
Daimler-Benz AG/10.294	Freescale Semiconductor, Inc./10.000	
Philips Corporate Intellectual Property	Philips Intellectual Property & Standard GmbH/10.000	s
GmbH/10.294	Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft zur Förderung e angewandten Forschung e.V./6.667	der
Ericsson FUBA Telecom GmbH/10.294		
Volkswagen AG/5.882	BASF AG/4.444	
Vantico AG/5.882		
ATOTECH Germany GmbH/5.882		
Dyconex AG/5.882		
Technische Universität Dresden/5.882		
	Most Central Applicants/C _B (i) in % (Betweenness-Centrality)	
1988–1997	1998-2007	
Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft zur Förderung der	ROBERT BOSCH GMBH/1.648	
angewandten Forschung e.V./4.434	Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft zur Förderung e angewandten Forschung e.V./1.124	der

Table 6 (continued)

Volkswagen AG/3.073 Daimler-Benz AG/2.546 Alcatel SEL Aktiengesellschaft/0.658 ROBERT BOSCH GMBH/0.044

Volkswagen AG/0.774 BASF AG/0.225 Lucent Technologies Inc./0.100 International Business Machines Corporation/0.050 Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH/0.025 SIEMENS AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT/ 0.025 GeoForschungsZentrum Potsdam/0.025

Source: Own calculation

Fig. 13: All applicants outside of Karlsruhe (NUTS-2) for the period of 1988-1997 (t₀)





Fig. 14: All applicants outside of Karlsruhe (NUTS-2) for the period of 1998-2007 (t₁)

Source: Own illustration

Table 7: Cooperation networks in which all cooperation partners (Applicants) are headquartered inside the region under consideration

NUTS-2 region of Cologne for the period of	1984–1993	1994-2003
Number of all weighted ICT patent applications:	643	1993
Number of applicants in which all cooperation partners (applicants) are headquartered inside the region under consideration	24	36
Ratio of applicants >1 per patent (cooperations)	3.73 %	1.81 %
Network Density	0.0688	0.0333
Network Degree-centrality CD	6.43 %	2.45 %
Network Betweenness Centrality CB	0 %	0.17 %
Average Ties per Actor	1.583	1.167
Inclusion of Research Institutes	Yes	Yes
	Most Central Applicants/C _D (i) in % (Degree-Centrality)%	
1984–1993	1994–2003	
Scherer, Gertrud/13.043	Kollberg, Klaus/5.714	
Scherer, Karl Joachim Dietmar/13.043	Alléra, Axel/5.714	
Scherer, Peter (represented by	Bayer MaterialScience AG/5.714	
Scherer, Gertrud)/13.043	Daufeldt, Dr., Sabine/5.714	
Scherer, Andreas/13.043	Daufeldt, Hans-Peter/5.714	
Engelhardt, Harald, DiplIng./8.696	Schiessl, Peter/5.714	
Reul, Helmut, Prof. Dr./8.696	Raupach, Michael/5.714	
Graab, Helmut/8.696		
Martin, Claus/8.696		
Rau, Günter, Prof. Dr./8.696		
Esser, Reinhard/8.696		
	Most Central Applicants/C _B (i) in % (Betweenness-Centrality)	
1984-1993	1994–2003	

Source: Own calculation

1994-2003 Bayer MaterialScience AG/0.168



Fig. 15: All applicants within cologne (NUTS-2) for the period of 1984-1993 (t₀)

Fig. 16: All applicants within cologne (NUTS-2) for the period of 1994-2003 (t₁)



Source: Own illustration

Table 8: Cooperation networks in which all cooperation partners (applicants) are headquartered inside the region under consideration

NUTS-2 region of Karlsruhe for the period of	1988–1997	1998-2007
Number of all weighted ICT patent applications:	1273	2103
Number of applicants in which all cooperation partners (applicants) are headquartered inside the region under consideration	30	38
Ratio of applicants >1 per patent (cooperations)	2.36 %	1.81 %
Network Density	0.0713	0.0341
Network Degree-centrality CD	10.46 %	4.82 %
Network Betweenness Centrality CB	2.17 %	0.45 %
Average Ties per Actor	2.067	1.263
Inclusion of Research Institutes	Yes	Yes
	Most Central Applicants/C _D (i) in % (Degree-Centrality)%	
1988–1997	1998-2007	
Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe GmbH/17.241	Schuster, Ralf/8.108	
Harman Becker Automotive	Siegrist, Alexandra/8.108	
Systems GmbH/13.793	Baréz, Klaus/8.108	
BECKER GmbH/13.793	Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum/8.108	
OASIS SiliconSystems Holding AG/13.793	Siegrist, Michael/8.108	

SMSC Europe GmbH/13.793 Silicon Systems GmbH Multimedia Engineering/13.793

KERNFORSCHUNGSZENTRUM KARLSRUHE GMBH/13.793 UNIVERSITÄT KARLSRUHE (TECHNISCHE HOCHSCHULE)/10.345 Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum/10.345 Lux, Benjamin Wolfgang/6.897 Lux, Viola Irmgard/6.897 Burckhardt, Jean, Dr./6.897 Seelig, Hans Peter, Prof. Dr./6.897 Seelig, Renate, Dr./6.897 Lux, Jasmin Sabrina/6.897

1988–1997 Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe GmbH/2.217 KERNFORSCHUNGSZENTRUM KARLSRUHE GMBH/1.232 Source: Own calculation Most Central Applicants/C_B(i) in % (Betweenness-Centrality) 1998–2007 Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum/0.450



Fig. 17: All applicants within Karlsruhe (NUTS-2) for the period of 1988-1997 (t₀)

Fig. 18: All applicants within Karlsruhe (NUTS-2) for the period of 1998-2007 (t₁)



Source: Own illustration

References

- AGHION P; HOWITT P (1992), A model of growth through creative destruction, Econometrica 60:323–351.
- Aghion P, Howitt P (1997), A Schumpeterian perspective on growth and competition. In: Kreps D, Wallis KF (eds) Advanced in economics and economietrics: theory and applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 279-317.
- ALMEIDA P, KOGUT B (1999), Localisation of knowledge and the mobility of engineers in regional networks, Manag Sci 45:905-917.
- ANGEL D. (2002), Inter-firm collaboration and technology development partnerships with US manufacturing industries, Region Stud 34:333-344.
- ANGEL D.; ENGSTROM J. (1995), Manufaacturing systems and technological change: the US personal computer industry. Econ Geogr 71:79-102.
- ARNDT O.; STERNBERG R. (2000) Do manufacturing firms profit from intraregional innovation linkages? An empirical answer. Eur Plann Stud 8:465-485.
- AUDRETSCH D. (1998), Agglomeration and the location of innovative activity. Oxf Rev Econ Policy 14:18-29.
- BAPTISTA R.; Swann P. (1998), Do firms in clusters innovate more? Res Policy 27:525–540.
- BEAUDRY C.; BRESCHI S. (2003), Are firms in clusters really more innovative. Econ Innov New Technol 12:325–342.
- BRESCHI S.; LISSIONI F. (2001), Knowledge spillovers and local innovation systems: a critical survey. Ind Corp Change 10:975–1005.
- BROWN R. (2000), Clusters, supply chains and local embeddedness in Fyrstad. Eur Urban Region Stud 7:291–305.
- Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Technologie (BMWi) (2010a) http://www.kompetenznetze.de/?set_language=en. Accessed 01 January 2012.
- BundesministeriumfürWirtschaft und Technologie (BMWi) (2010b) http://www.kompetenznetze.de/initiative/die-geschaftsstelle. Accessed 31 August 2010.
- Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Technologie (BMWi) (2010c) Aufnahmenkriterien Initiative Kompetenznetze Deutschland. http://www.kompetenznetze.de/initiative/dieaufnahme/aufnahmekriterien_initiativekompetenznetzedeutschland.pdf. Accessed 31 August 2010.
- CANTNER U.; GRAF H.; MEDER A. (2009), Urbane innovationssysteme: das innovationsnetzwerk in Jena. doi:10.1007/978-3-531-91349-0_10

- COHEN W.; LEVINTHAL D. (1990), Absorptive capacity: a new perspective on learning and innovation. administrative science quarterly 35 special issue: technology, organizations, and innovation: 128–152.
- COOKE P.; DE LAURENTIS C., TÖDTLING F., TRIPPL M. (eds) (2007), Regional knowledge economics: markets, clusters and innovation. Oxford University Press, Cheltenham.
- DELGADO M.; PORTER M.; STERN S. (2010), Cluster, convergence, and economic performance. US Census Bureau Center for Economic Studies Paper CES-WP-10-34.
- DÖRING T.; SCHNELLENBACH J. (2006), What do we know about geographical knowledge spillovers and regional growth? theory and evidence. Region Stud 40:375–395.
- EMONS O. (2011), Innovations- and Spezialisierungsdynamik im Automotivesektor: Vergleichsanalyse von europäischen Kooperations- and innovatorennetzwerken. In:Welfens PJJ (ed) Cluster- und innovationsdynamik in Europa: neue perspektiven der automobil- und IKT Wirtschaft. Lucius, Stuttgart, pp 323–479.
- ENGELSOFT S.; JENSEN-BUTLER C.; SMITH I.; WINTHER L. (2006), Industrial clusters in Denmark: theory and empirical evidence. Papers Region Sci 85:73–97.
- FALCK O.; HEBLICH S.; KIPAR S. (2010), Industrial innovation: direct evidence from cluster-oriented policy. Region Sci Urban Econ 40:574–582.
- FESER E.; RENSKI H.; GOLDSTEIN H. (2008), Clusters and economic development outcomes: an analysis of the link between clustering and industry growth. Econ Dev Quart 22:324–344.
- FONTAGNÉ L.; KOENIG P.; MAYERNIS F.; PONCET S. (2010), Clustering the winners: the French policy of competitiveness clusters, CEPII Working Paper 2010-18.
- FREEMAN L. (1978), Centrality in social networks conceptual clarification. Soc Netw 1:215–239.
- GERTLER M.; WOLFE D.; GARKUT D. (2000), No place like home? The embeddedness of innovation in a regional economy. Rev Int Political Econ 7:688–718.
- GIULIANI E. (2005), The structure of cluster knowledge networks: uneven and selective, not pervasive and collective. Eur Urban Reg Stud 12:269–288.
- GRAF H.; HENNING T. (2009), Public research in regional networks of innovators: a comparative study of four East German regions. Reg Stud 43:1349–1368.
- GRILICHES Z. (1979), Issues in assessing the contribution of research and development to productivity growth. Bell J Econ 10:92–116.
- GRILICHES Z. (1992), The search for R&D spillovers. Scand J Econ 94(Supplement):29–47.
- HAFNER K. (2008), Agglomeration economics and clustering evidence fromGerman firms, cegeDiscussion Papers 72.

- HE J.; FALLAH M. (2009), Is inventor network structure a predictor of cluster evolution? Technol Forecast Soc Change 76:91–106.
- HENDRY C.; BROWN J.; DEFILLIPPI R. (2000), Regional clustering of high technology-based firms: opto-electronics in three countries. Reg Stud 34:129–144.
- HOWITT P.; AGHION P. (1998), Capital accumulation and innovation as complementary factors in long-run growth. J Econ Growth 3:111–130.
- JAFFE A.; TRAJTENBERG M.; HENDERSON R. (1993), Geographic localisation of knowledge spillovers as evidenced by patent citations. Quart J Econ 108:577–598.
- KALASKY R.; MACPHERSON A. (2003), Input/output ranges and performance: an examination of US machine tool producers. Entrep Reg Dev 15:69–82.
- KEARNS A.; GORG H. (2002), Linkages, agglomerations and knowledge spillovers in the Irish electronics industry: the regional dimension. Int J Technol Manag 24:743– 763.
- KIM J.; MARSCHKE G. (2005), Labor mobility of scientists, technological diffusion, and the firm's patenting decision. RAND J Econ 36:424–428.
- LAWSON C.; LORENZ E. (1999), Collective learning, tacit knowledge and regional innovative capacity. Reg Stud 33:305–317.
- LAWTON-SMITH H. (2003), Local innovation assemblages and institutional capacity in local high-tech economic development: the case of Oxfordshire. Urban Stud 40:1353–1369.
- LUCAS R. (1988), On the mechanics of economic development. J Monet Econ 22:3–42.
- LYONS D. (2000), Embeddedness, milieu, and innovation among high-technology firms: a Richardson, Texas, case study. Environ Plann A 32:891–908.
- MAHMUTOVIC Z. (2011), Patentdatenbank Implementierung and Nutzung. In: Welfens PJJ (ed) Cluster- and Innovationsdynamik in Europa: Neue Perspektiven der Automobil- und IKT Wirtschaft. Lucius, Stuttgart, pp 309–321.
- MAINE E.; SHAPIRO D.; VINING A. (2010), The role of clustering in the growth of new technology-based firms. Small Bus Econ 34:127–146.
- MALMBERG A.; POWER D. (2005), (How) do (firms in) clusters create knowledge? Ind Innov 12:409–431.
- MARSHALL A. (1920), Principles of economics. Macmillan, London.
- MCDONALD F.; TSAGDIS D.; HUANG Q. (2006), The development of industrial clusters and public policy. Entrep Reg Dev 18:525–542.
- MOTA J.; DE CASTRO L. (2004), Industrial agglomeration as localized networks: the case of the Portuguese injection mould industry. Environ Plann A 36:263–278.
- NELSON R. (1990), What is public and what is private about technology? CCC Working Paper 90-9. University of California, Center for Research in Management.
- PERETTO P. (1998), Technological change, market rivalry, and the evolution of the capitalist engine of growth. J Econ Growth 3:53–80.

- PERETTO P. (1999a), Firm size, rivalry and the extent of the market in endogenous technological change. Eur Econ Rev 43:1747–1773.
- PERETTO P. (1999b), Industrial development, technological change, and long-run growth. J Dev Econ 59:389–417.
- PORTER M. (1990), The competitive advantage of nations. The Free Press, New York.
- RODRÍGUEZ-POSE A., REFOLO M. (2003), The link between local production systems and public and university research in Italy. Environ Plann A 35:1477–1492.
- ROMER P. (1986), Increasing returns and long-run growth. J Political Econ 94:1002–1037.
- SAKAKIBARA M. (2003), Knowledge sharing in cooperative research and development. Manag Decis Econ 24:117–132.
- SCHMITZ J. (1989), Imitation, entrepreneurship, and long-run growth. J Political Econ 97:721–739.
- SCHMITZ H. (1999), Collective efficiency and increasing returns. Camb J Econ 23:465–483.
- SCHUMPETER A. (1911), The theory of economic development. Harvard University Press, Cambridge.
- SIMMIE J. (2002), Knowledge spillovers and reasons for the concentration of innovative SMEs. Urban Stud 39:885–902.
- TOMOKAZU A.; FUJITA M.; KAMEYAMA Y. (2006), Effects of regional cooperation among small and medium-sized firms on their growth in Japanese industrial clusters. Rev Urban Reg Dev Stud (RURDS) 18:209–228.
- WASSERMAN S.; FAUST K. (1994), Social network analysis: methods and applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- WATERS R.; LAWTON-SMITH H. (2006), Social networks in high-technology local economies: the case of Oxfordshire and Cambridgeshire. Eur Urban Reg Stud 15:21–37.
- WELFENS PJJ (2011), IKT expansion, strukturwandel and clusterdynamik in der EU, in: cluster- and innovationsdynamik in europa. In: Welfens PJJ (ed) Neue perspektiven der automobil- and IKT wirtschaft. Lucius, Stuttgart, pp 1–136.

EIIW Discussion Papers

ISSN 1430-5445:

Standing orders (usually 13 issues or more p.a.): academic rate 95 Euro p.a.; normal rate 250 Euro p.a.

Single orders: academic rate 10 Euro per copy; normal rate 20 Euro per copy.

Die Zusammenfassungen der Beiträge finden Sie im Internet unter: The abstracts of the publications can be found in the internet under:

http://www.eiiw.eu

- No. 100 **Gavrilenkov, E**: Macroeconomic Situation in Russia Growth, Investment and Capital Flows, October 2002
- No. 101 Agata, K.: Internet, Economic Growth and Globalization, November 2002
- No. 102 Blind, K.; Jungmittag, A.: Ausländische Direktinvestitionen, Importe und Innovationen im Dienstleistungsgewerbe, February 2003
- No. 103 Welfens, P.J.J.; Kirn, T.: Mittelstandsentwicklung, BASEL-II-Kreditmarktprobleme und Kapitalmarktperspektiven, Juli 2003
- No. 104 **Standke, K.-H.**: The Impact of International Organisations on National Science and Technology Policy and on Good Governance, March 2003
- No. 105 Welfens, P.J.J.: Exchange Rate Dynamics and Structural Adjustment in Europe, May 2003
- No. 106 Welfens, P.J.J.; Jungmittag, A.; Kauffmann, A.; Schumann, Ch.: EU Eastern Enlargement and Structural Change: Specialization Patterns in Accession Countries and Economic Dynamics in the Single Market, May 2003
- No. 107 Welfens, P.J.J.: Überwindung der Wirtschaftskrise in der Eurozone: Stabilitäts-, Wachstums- und Strukturpolitik, September 2003
- No. 108 Welfens, P.J.J.: Risk Pricing, Investment and Prudential Supervision: A Critical Evaluation of Basel II Rules, September 2003
- No. 109 Welfens, P.J.J.; Ponder, J.K.: Digital EU Eastern Enlargement, October 2003
- No. 110 Addison, J.T.; Teixeira, P.: What Have We Learned About The Employment Effects of Severance Pay? Further Iterations of Lazear et al., October 2003
- No. 111 Gavrilenkov, E.: Diversification of the Russian Economy and Growth, October 2003
- No. 112 Wiegert, R.: Russia's Banking System, the Central Bank and the Exchange Rate Regime, November 2003
- No. 113 Shi, S.: China's Accession to WTO and its Impacts on Foreign Direct Investment, November 2003

- No. 114 Welfens, P.J.J.: The End of the Stability Pact: Arguments for a New Treaty, December 2003
- No. 115 Addison, J.T.; Teixeira, P.: The effect of worker representation on employment behaviour in Germany: another case of -2.5%, January 2004
- No. 116 Borbèly, D.: EU Export Specialization Patterns in Selected Accession Countries, March 2004
- No. 117 Welfens, P.J.J.: Auf dem Weg in eine europäische Informations- und Wissensgesellschaft: Probleme, Weichenstellungen, Politikoptionen, Januar 2004
- No. 118 Markova, E.: Liberalisation of Telecommunications in Russia, December 2003
- No. 119 Welfens, P.J.J.; Markova, E.: Private and Public Financing of Infrastructure: Theory, International Experience and Policy Implications for Russia, February 2004
- No. 120 Welfens, P.J.J.: EU Innovation Policy: Analysis and Critique, March 2004
- No. 121 **Jungmittag, A.; Welfens, P.J.J.:** Politikberatung und empirische Wirtschaftsforschung: Entwicklungen, Probleme, Optionen für mehr Rationalität in der Wirtschaftspolitik, März 2004
- No. 122 **Borbèly, D.:** Competition among Cohesion and Accession Countries: Comparative Analysis of Specialization within the EU Market, June 2004
- No. 123 Welfens, P.J.J.: Digitale Soziale Marktwirtschaft: Probleme und Reformoptionen im Kontext der Expansion der Informations- und Kommunikationstechnologie, Mai 2004
- No. 124 Welfens, P.J.J.; Kauffmann, A.; Keim, M.: Liberalization of Electricity Markets in Selected European Countries, July 2004
- No. 125 Bartelmus, P.: SEEA Revision: Accounting for Sustainability?, August 2004
- No. 126 Welfens, P.J.J.; Borbèly, D.: Exchange Rate Developments and Stock Market Dynamics in Transition Countries: Theory and Empirical Analysis, November 2004
- No. 127 Welfens, P.J.J.: Innovations in the Digital Economy: Promotion of R&D and Growth in Open Economies, January 2005
- No. 128 Welfens, P.J.J.: Savings, Investment and Growth: New Approaches for Macroeconomic Modelling, February 2005
- No. 129 **Pospiezna, P.:** The application of EU Common Trade Policy in new Memberstates after Enlargement – Consequences on Russia's Trade with Poland, March 2005
- No. 130 **Pospiezna, P.; Welfens, P.J.J.:** Economic Opening up of Russia: Establishment of new EU-RF Trade Relations in View of EU Eastern Enlargement, April 2005
- No. 131 Welfens, P.J.J.: Significant Market Power in Telecommunications: Theoretical and Practical Aspects, May 2005
- No. 132 Welfens, P.J.J.: A Quasi-Cobb Douglas Production Function with Sectoral Progress: Theory and Application to the New Economy, May 2005
- No. 133 **Jungmittag, A.; Welfens, P.J.J:** Institutions, Telecommunications Dynamics and Policy Challenges: Theory and Empirical Analysis for Germany, May 2005

- No. 134 Libman, A.: Russia's Integration into the World Economy: An Interjurisdictional Competition View, June 2005
- No. 135 Feiguine, G.: Beitritt Russlands zur WTO Probleme und Perspektiven, September 2005
- No. 136 Welfens, P.J.J.: Rational Regulatory Policy for the Digital Economy: Theory and EU Policy Options, October 2005
- No. 137 Welfens, P.J.J.: Schattenregulierung in der Telekommunikationswirtschaft, November 2005
- No. 138 **Borbèly, D.:** Determinants of Trade Specialization in the New EU Member States, November 2005
- No. 139 Welfens, P.J.J.: Interdependency of Real Exchange Rate, Trade, Innovation, Structural Change and Growth, December 2005
- No. 140 **Borbély D., Welfens, P.J.J.:** Structural Change, Innovation and Growth in the Context of EU Eastern Enlargement, January 2006
- No. 141 Schumann, Ch.: Financing Studies: Financial Support schemes for students in selected countries, January 2006
- No. 142 Welfens, P.J.J.: Digitale Innovationen, Neue Märkte und Telekomregulierung, März 2006
- No. 143 Welfens, P.J.J.: Information and Communication Technology: Dynamics, Integration and Economic Stability, July 2006
- No. 144 Welfens, P.J.J.: Grundlagen rationaler Transportpolitik bei Integration, August 2006
- No. 145 **Jungmittag**, A.: Technological Specialization as a driving Force of Production Specialization, October 2006
- No. 146 Welfens, P.J.J.: Rational Regulatory Policy for the Digital Economy: Theory and EU-Policy Options, October 2006
- No. 147 Welfens, P.J.J.: Internationalization of EU ICT Industries: The Case of SAP, December 2006
- No. 148 Welfens, P.J.J.: Marktwirtschaftliche Perspektiven der Energiepolitik in der EU: Ziele, Probleme, Politikoptionen, Dezember 2006
- No. 149 **Vogelsang, M.:** Trade of IT Services in a Macroeconomic General Equilibrium Model, December 2006
- No. 150 **Cassel, D., Welfens, P.J.J.:** Regional Integration, Institutional Dynamics and International Competitiveness, December 2006
- No. 151 Welfens, P.J.J., Keim, M.: Finanzmarktintegration und Wirtschaftsentwicklung im Kontext der EU-Osterweiterung, März 2007
- No. 152 **Kutlina, Z.:** Realwirtschaftliche und monetäre Entwicklungen im Transformationsprozess ausgewählter mittel- und osteuropäischer Länder, April 2007
- No. 153 Welfens, P.J.J.; Borbély, D.: Structural Change, Growth and Bazaar Effects in the Single EU Market, September 2008
- No. 154 **Feiguine, G.:** Die Beziehungen zwischen Russland und der EU nach der EU-Osterweiterung: Stand und Entwicklungsperspektiven, Oktober 2008

- No. 155 Welfens, P.J.J.: Ungelöste Probleme der Bankenaufsicht, Oktober 2008
- No. 156 Addison J.T.: The Performance Effects of Unions. Codetermination, and Employee Involvement: Comparing the United States and Germany (With an Addendum on the United Kingdom), November 2008
- No. 157 Welfens, P.J.J.: Portfoliomodell und langfristiges Wachstum: Neue Makroperspektiven, Portfolio Modelling and Growth, November 2008
- No. 158 Welfens, P.J.J.: Growth, Structural Dynamics and EU Integration in the Context of the Lisbon Agenda, November 2008
- No. 159 Welfens, P.J.J.: Portfolio Modelling and Growth, December 2008
- No. 160 Islami, M.: Interdependence Between Foreign Exchange Markets and Stock Markets in Selected European Countries, December 2008
- No. 161 Welfens, P.J.J.: Portfolio Modelling and Growth, January 2009
- No. 162 Bartelmus, P.: Sustainable Development Has It Run Its Course?, January 2009
- No. 163 Welfens, P.J.J.: Intégration Européenne et Mondialisation: Défis, Débats, Options, February 2009
- No. 164 Welfens, Р...J.: ЭКОНОМИЧЕСКИЙ РОСТ, ИННОВАЦИИ И ПРИРОДНЫЕ РЕСУРСЫ, February 2009
- No. 165 Welfens, P.J.J.; Vogelsang, M.: Regulierung und Innovationsdynamik in der EU-Telekommunikationswirtschaft, February 2009
- No. 166 Welfens, P.J.J.: The International Banking Crisis: Lessons and EU Reforms, February 2009
- No. 167 Schröder, C.: Financial System and Innovations: Determinants of Early Stage Venture Capital in Europe, March 2009
- No. 168 Welfens, P.J.J.: Marshall-Lerner Condition and Economic Globalization, April 2009
- No. 169 Welfens, P.J.J.: Explaining Oil Price Dynamics, May 2009
- No. 170 Welfens, P.J.J.; Borbély, D.: Structural Change, Innovation and Growth in the Single EU Market, August 2009
- No. 171 Welfens, P.J.J.: Innovationen und Transatlantische Bankenkrise: Eine ordnungspolitische Analyse, August 2009
- No. 172 Erdem, D.; Meyer, K.: Natural Gas Import Dynamics and Russia's Role in the Security of Germany's Supply Strategy, December 2009
- No. 173 Welfens P.J.J; Perret K.J...: Structural Change, Specialization and Growth in EU 25, January 2010
- No. 174 Welfens P.J.J.; Perret K.J.; Erdem D...: Global Economic Sustainability Indicator: Analysis and Policy Options for the Copenhagen Process, February 2010
- No. 175 Welfens, P.J.J.: Rating, Kapitalmarktsignale und Risikomanagement: Reformansätze nach der Transatlantischen Bankenkrise, Februar 2010
- No. 176 Mahmutovic, Z.: Patendatenbank: Implementierung und Nutzung, Juli 2010
- No. 177 Welfens, P.J.J.: Toward a New Concept of Universal services: The Role of Digital Mobile Services and Network Neutrality, November 2010
- No. 178 Perret, K.J.: A Core-Periphery in Russia Twin Peaks or a Rat's Tail, December 2010
- No. 179 Welfens, P.J.J.: R&D Employment, Golden Rule and Hybrid Welfare, December 2010

- No. 180 Welfens, P.J.J.: European and Global Reform Requirement for Overcoming the Banking Crisis, December 2010
- No. 181 Szanyi, M.: Industrial clusters: concepts and empirical evidence from East-Central Europe, December 2010
- No. 182 Szalavetz, A.: The Hungarian automotive sector a comparative CEE perspective with special emphasis on structural change, December 2010
- No. 183 Welfens, P.J.J.; Perret, K.J.; Erdem, D.: The Hungarian ICT sector a comparative CEE perspective with special emphasis on structural change, December 2010
- No. 184 Lengyel, B.: Regional clustering tendencies of the Hungarian automotive and ICT industries in the first half of the 2000's, December 2010
- No. 185 Schröder, C.: Regionale und unternehmensspezifische Faktoren einer hohen Wachstumsdynamik von IKT Unternehmen in Deutschland; Dezember 2010
- No. 186 **Emons, O.:** Innovation and Specialization Dynamics in the European Automotive Sector: Comparative Analysis of Cooperation & Application Network, October 2010
- No. 187 Welfens, P.J.J.: The Twin Crisis: From the Transatlantic Banking Crisis to the Euro Crisis?, January 2011
- No. 188 Welfens, P.J.J.: Green ICT Dynamics: Key Issues and Findings for Germany, March 2012
- No. 189 Erdem, D.: Foreign Direct Investments, Energy Efficiency and Innovation Dynamics, July 2011
- No. 190 Welfens, P.J.J.: Atomstromkosten und -risiken: Haftpflichtfragen und Optionen rationaler Wirtschaftspolitik, Mai 2011
- No. 191 Welfens, P.J.J.: Towards a Euro Fiscal Union: Reinforced Fiscal and Macroeconomic Coordination and Surveillance is Not Enough, January 2012
- No. 192 Irawan, Tony: ICT and economic development: Conclusion from IO Analysis for Selected ASEAN Member States, November 2013
- No. 193 Welfens, P.J.J.; Perret, J.: Information & Communication Technology and True Real GDP: Economic Analysis and Findings for Selected Countries, February 2014

EIIW Economic Policy Analysis

- No. 1 Welfens, P.J.J.: Globalisierung der Wirtschaft und Krise des Sozialstaats: Ist die Wirtschaftswissenschaft am Ende?, April 1997
- No. 2 Welfens, P.J.J.: Nach der D-Mark kommt die E-Mark: Auf dem Weg zur EU-Währungsunion, Juli 1997
- No. 3 Welfens, P.J.J.: Beschäftigungsförderliche Steuerreform in Deutschland zum Euro-Start: Für eine wachstumsorientierte Doppelsteuerreform, Oktober 1998

Fordern Sie den EIIW Newsletter an: <u>www.eiiw.eu</u> Please subscribe to EIIW Newsletter: <u>www.eiiw.eu</u>

Weitere Beiträge von Interesse: Titels of related interest:

Most recent books also see the last page.

WELFENS, P.J.J. (2013), Social Security and Economic Globalization, Heidelberg: Springer.

PERRET, J.K. (2013), Knowledge as a Driver of Regional Growth in the Russian Federation, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J. (2013), Nachhaltige Überwindung der Euro-Krise, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

SCHULZ, M. (2013), Der gefesselte Riese – Europas letzte Chance, Reinbek: Rowohlt Verlag.

WELFENS, P.J.J. (2012), Die Zukunft des Euro, Berlin: Nicolai Verlag.

WELFENS, P.J.J., HENNICKE, P. (2012), Energiewende nach Fukushima, München: Oekom Verlag.

WELZER, H.; WIEGANDT, K. (2012), Perspektiven einer nachhaltigen Entwicklung: Wie sieht die Welt im Jahr 2050 aus?, Frankfurt am Main: Fischer Verlag.

WELFENS, P.J.J (2011), Cluster- und Innovationsdynamik in Europa: Neue Perspektiven der Automobil- und IKT-Wirtschaft, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; EMONS, O.; SCHRÖDER, C. (2011), Europäische Innovations- und Spezialisierungsdynamik im Gesundheitssektor, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

ISLAMI, M. (2010), Interdependenz zwischen Devisen- und Aktienmärkten in ausgewählten EU-Ländern: Theorie und empirische Analyse, Hamburg: Verlag Dr. Kovac.

VOGELSANG, M. (2010), Digitalization in Open Economies, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; et al. (2009), A Europe of achievements in a Changing World, European Commission.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; BORBÉLY, D. (2009), Europäische Integration und Digitale Weltwirtschaft, Band 4: EU-Ostererweiterung, IKT und Strukturwandel, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

BLEISCHWITZ, R.; WELFENS, P.J.J.; ZHANG, Z. (2009), Sustainable Growth and Resource Productivity, Sheffield: Greanleaf.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; ADDISON, J.T. (2009), Innovation, Employment and Growth Policy Issues in the EU and the US, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; RYAN, C.; CHIRATHIVAT, S.; KNIPPING, F. (2009), EU-ASEAN, Facing Economic Globalisation, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J. (2009), Transatlantische Bankenkrise, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; WOLF, H.C.; WOLTERS, J. (eds., 2008), International Economics and Economic Policy, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; WALTHER-KLAUS, E. (eds., 2008), Digital Excelence, University Meets Economy, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J. (2008), Digital Integration, Growth and Rational Regulation, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J. (2007), Innovation in Macroeconomics, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J.; WESKE, M. (eds., 2007), Digital Economic Dynamics, Innovations, Networks and Regulations, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J., WESKE, M. (eds., 2006): Innovations, Digital Economic Dynamics and Regulatory Policy, Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J., KNIPPING, F., CHIRATHIVAT, S., RYAN, C. (eds., 2006): Integration in Asia and Europe: Historical Dynamics, Political Issues and Economic Perspectives, Heidelberg: Springer.

BROADMAN, H.G., PAAS, T., WELFENS, P.J.J. (eds., 2006): Economic Liberalization and Integration Policy Options for Eastern Europe and Russia, Heidelberg: Springer.

BORBÉLY, D. (2006): Trade Specialization in the Enlarged European Union, Heidelberg/Berlin: Springer.

JUNGMITTAG, A. (2006): Internationale Innovationsdynamik, Spezialisierung und Wirtschaftswachstum in der EU, Heidelberg: Physica.

WELFENS, P.J.J., WZIATEK-KUBIAK, (eds., 2005): Structural Change and Exchange Rate Dynamics – The Economics of EU Eastern Enlargement; Heidelberg: Springer.

WELFENS, P.J.J., ZOCHE, P., JUNGMITTAG, A. (et al. 2005): Internetwirtschaft 2010 (final Report for the German Federal Government; joint study EIIW and Fraunhofer Institute for System Dynamics and Innovation, Karlsruhe), Heidelberg: Physica.

GRAHAM, E., ODING, N., WELFENS, P.J.J., (2005): Internationalization and Economic Policy Reforms in Transition Countries, Heidelberg: Springer.

GAVRILENKOW, E., WELFENS, P.J.J., (2005): Infrastructure, Investments and Economic Integration: Perspectives for Eastern Europe and Russia, Moscow: HSE.

APOLTE, T.; CASPERS, R.; WELFENS, P.J.J. (2004), Ordnungsökonomische Grundlagen nationaler und internationaler Wirtschaftspolitik, Stuttgart: Lucius & Lucius.

GAVRILENKOV, E.; WELFENS, P.J.J.; WIEGERT, R. (2004), Economic Opening Up and Growth in Russia, Heidelberg and New York: Springer.